I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


A. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the earth movement exclusion in an 

Ultraflex Insurance Policy (the "Policy") issued by Petitioner Erie Insurance Property and 

Casualty Company ("Erie") to Respondents Dimitri and Mary Chaber provides insurance 

coverage for earth movement caused by man-made events. 

1. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the Policy's earth movement 

exclusion, which expressly states that "[the] exclusion applies regardless of whether any of the 

above ... is caused by an act of nature of is otherwise caused", is ambiguous because it clearly 

precludes coverage for all earth movement, regardless of whether the cause is natural or man

made events, including landslide, which encompasses rockfall caused by improper excavation. 

2. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the efficient proximate cause of the 

alleged loss is a covered risk because the Policy's earth movement exclusion precludes coverage 

for earth movement caused by man-made events, and in any event the Policy's anti-concurrent 

causation clause, which applies the exclusion "regardless of any cause or event that contributes 

concurrently or in any sequence to the 'loss"', defeats the efficient proximate cause doctrine. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the doctrine of reasonable 

expectations requires insurance coverage for the alleged loss because that doctrine does not 

apply to unambiguous provisions such as the Policy's earth movement exclusion and anti

concurrent causation clause. 

B. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the ensuing loss provision in the Policy, 

which expressly states that if earth movement "results in ... building glass breakage, we will pay 

for the 'loss' or damage caused by such peril[]", is ambiguous and construing it to provide 

coverage for the entire alleged loss and not just that portion caused by glass breakage. 



II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Chabers filed their Complaint against Erie and Stephen Myers on June 16, 2014. 

The three-count Complaint contains the following claims: I) breach of contract, breach of 

covenants of good faith and fair dealing, and violations of the West Virginia Unfair Trade 

Protection Act, West Virginia Code § 31-11-1 et seq., by Erie and Mr. Myers; I 2) fraud and/or 

fraudulent misrepresentation by Mr. Myers; and 3) declaratory judgment. A.R. 5-12. Attached-c' 

to the Complaint as Exhibit A is a letter to the Chabers from Mr. Myers dated March 24, 2014, 

denying insurance coverage under Erie's Policy following its investigation into a loss dated 

February 19, 2014. A.R. 13-15. Enclosed with the March 24 letter and also attached to the 

Complaint is an excerpt from the Policy, which includes the following exclusionary language: 

SECTION III - EXCLUSIONS 

A. Coverages 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 

We do not cover under Building(s) - Coverage 1; Business Personal Property and 
Personal Property of Others - Coverage 2; Additional Income Protection -
Coverage 3; Glass and Lettering - Coverage 4; and Signs, Lights, and Clocks -
Coverage 5 "loss" or damage caused directly or indirectly by any of the 
following. Such "loss" or damage is excluded regardless of any cause or event 
that contributes concurrently or in any sequence to the "loss": 

5. Earth Movement 

a. Earthquake, including tremors and aftershocks, and any earth sinking, 
rising, or shifting related to such event; 

b. Landslide, including any earth sinking, rising, or shifting related to such 
event; 

c. Mine subsidence, meaning subsidence of a manmade mine. whether or not 
mining activity has ceased; or 

I The Chabers may have meant to plead under the Unfair Trade Practices Act. West Virginia Code § 33-11-1. et seq. 
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d. Earth sinking (other than sinkhole collapse), rising, or shifting including 
soil conditions which cause settling, cracking or other disarrangement of 
foundations, or other parts of realty. Soil conditions include contraction, 
expansion, freezing, thawing, erosion, improperly compacted soil, and the action 
of water under the ground surface. 

This excl usion applies regardless of whether any of the above, in Paragraphs 5.a. 
through S.d., is caused by an act of nature or is otherwise caused. 

But if Earth Movement, as described in 5.a. through S.d. above, results in fire, 
.explosion, sprinkler leakage, volcanic action, or building glass breakage, we will 
pay for the "loss" or damage caused by such perils. 

A.R. 16-17. 

On August 5, 2014, Erie and Mr. Myers served their Answer to the Complaint. The 

Answer denies liability under any of the claims, and specifically with regard to the declaratory 

judgment claim denies any and all allegations that imply that insurance coverage exists for all 

alleged loss under the Policy. A.R.26. 

On April 21, 2015, the Circuit Court entered an Order bifurcating the action and staying 

all discovery except for discovery related to the declaratory judgment claim. The Order further 

set certain deadlines, including the discovery deadline for the declaratory judgment claim of July 

13, 2015, the dispositive motions deadline for that claim of August 13, 2015, and the trial date 

for that claim ofJanuary 11,2016. A.R. 32-35. 

On July 31,2015, Erie and Mr. Myers tiled a motion to strike the Chabers' expert witness 

disclosure and prohibit their expert witness testimony. A.R. I. The Court entered an Order 

denying the motion to strike on September 4,2015. The Court, however, ordered the Chabers to 

provide opinion letters to Erie and Mr. Myers by August 17,2015. The Court further ordered the 

Chabers to make their expert witnesses available for depositions before dispositive motions 

deadline for the declaratory judgment claim, which was extended to September IS, 2015. A.R. 

36-37. 
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Erie and Mr. Myers filed a motion for partial summary judgment on September 15,2015. 

Subsequently, they filed a renewed motion to strike the Chabers' expert witness disclosure and 

prohibit expert witness testimony. A.R. 2. 

On January 12, 2016, the Circuit Court denied Erie and Mr. Myers's motion for partial 

summary judgment on the declaratory judgment claim. A.R. 40-44. The Circuit Court 

concJuded,as follows: 

This Court FINDS and CONCLUDES that there are genuine issues of material 
fact as to whether or not the definition of "landslide" and "rockfall" is the same, 
whether the damage to the Plaintiffs' property was caused by a landslide or a 
rockfall if there is a distinction, and whether the cause of the damage is covered 
under the subject insurance policy or excluded by that policy and therefore 
DENIES the Defendants' motion for summary judgment. 

The Court, therefore, FINDS there are genuine issues of material fact as to the 
cause of the Plaintiffs' damages and whether the cause of the damages is man
made, natural or a combination of both, and whether the subject policy provides 
coverage for such loss. 

The Court FINDS that there are genuine issues of material facts as to whether or 
not there is insurance coverage for the damages claimed by the Plaintiffs. 

When giving Plaintiffs [sic] evidence, the benefit ofthe inferences as required, the 
Court FINDS that the Plaintiffs have offered sufficient evidence, which creates 
genuine issues of material fact and therefore DENIES the Defendants' motion for 
summary judgment. 

A.R.43-44. 

The Circuit Court held a bench trial on the declaratory judgment claim on January 11 and 

12, 2016. Before testimony began, Erie's counsel argued that the only issue is a legal question 

appropriate for summary judgment or certification to this Court. A.R.495-503. 

During trial, Mr. Chaber testified that he and his wife own property with a building in 

Saint Albans, West Virginia. A.R. 642. The Chabers' building contains five individually 

numbered commercial rental units or bays. One of the bays was leased to a motorcycle shop. 
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A.R. 623-24, 626-27. On February 19, 2014, Mr. Chaber was called to his property. When he 

was able to get close enough, Mr. Chaber saw a big rock approximately six feet from the back 

wall of his building and a mud slide that followed inside the garage. A.R.627. 

Mr. Chaber testified that the movement of soil and rock at issue was not the first time that 

soil and rock had fallen from the hillside behind his property. Additionally, Mr. Chaber testified 

that he hasdeaned dirt and rocks from behind his property at issue annually and has allowed 

various persons to utilize "loaders" to remove dirt that has accumulated behind the property. 

A.R.644-45. Moreover, Mr. Chaber testified that the hillside behind his property had previously 

collapsed damaging their neighbor's property, and that eight to ten truckloads of dirt were 

removed as a result thereof. A.R. 648. 

The Chabers submitted a claim to Erie under the Policy for the property damage that 

occurred on February 19, 2014, and Erie investigated the claim. Mr. Myers testified that on the 

day that he received notice of the Chabers' claim he traveled to their property to examine the 

damage. A.R. 559-60. Mr. Myers testified that on that day during the visit to the property he met 

with Mr. Chaber and showed him the portion of the Policy excluding coverage for damage 

caused by landslide. A.R. 56. Further. Mr. Myers testified that it appeared that a mass of rock 

slid down the steep slope behind the Chabers' property. A.R. 600. 

Mr. Myers testified that a rockfall is a landslide in the context of the Policy at issue. 

Further, Mr. Myers testified that a rockfall is earth movement in the context of the Policy. A.R. 

598. Mr. Myers testified that it was irrelevant under the Policy whether the earth movement 

occurred as a result of natural or man-made causes as earth movement caused because both 

natural and man-made forces are excluded under the Policy. A.R.599. 
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Mr. Myers testified that he determined that the cause of the damage to the Chabers' 

property was a landslide. Thereafter, by letter dated March 24, 2014, Erie denied coverage on 

the grounds that the Chabers' loss was excluded as a landslide under the policy's earth 

movement exclusion in the Chabers' policy. A.R. 13-15, 562. Mr. Myers found that coverage 

was available for the replacement of the Chabers' broken glass and frames pursuant to the 

resulting loss exception to the earth ,mov.ement exclusion but that the estim~te was below the 

Chabers' $10,000.00 deductible and stated the same in the March 24 letter. A.R. 15. 

Erie renewed its motion to strike the Chabers' expert witness Jack Spadaro on various 

grounds, including that his testimony is irrelevant. A.R. 533. The Circuit Court found that Mr. 

Spadaro is qualified as an expert witness in geotechnical engineering, .Iandslides and earth 

movement and allowed him to testify over Erie's objection. A.R.530-34. 

The Circuit Court entered an Order granting declaratory judgment to the Chabers. The 

Court concluded that there is evidence of both natural and man-made causes; that Erie failed to 

unambiguously exclude damage caused by rockfall due to man-made events, particularly, an 

improperly excavated hillside; and that Erie failed to eliminate the excavation as the efficient 

proximate cause of the loss. The Court concluded that where a third-party negligent act is 

alleged to be the proximate cause of a loss, a policyholder could reasonably expect to be covered 

under Erie's policy. The Court further concluded that the exception to the exclusion for glass 

breakage is ambiguous and must be construed in favor of the Chabers. The Court accordingly 

declared that coverage for the Chabers' loss exists under the Erie policy. A.R. 288-296. 

Subsequently, on April 14, 2016, the Circuit Court entered an Order certifying final 

judgment as to the declaratory judgment claim under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 

54(b) and continuing the stay of the Chabers' remaining claims. A.R.487-89. 
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III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 


The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in holding that the Policy's earth movement 

exclusion provides insurance coverage for earth movement caused by man-made events. First, 

the Policy's earth movement exclusion, which states that "[the] exclusion applies regardless of 

whether any of the above . . . is caused by an act of nature of is otherwise caused[,]" is 

unambigueus.·The exclusion c1early- precludes insurance coverage for all ~arth movement, 

regardless of whether the cause is natural or "otherwise", which is defined to mean "in a 

different way or manner", and expressly includes landslide, which means "the rapid downward 

movement under the influence of gravity of a mass of rock. earth, or artificial fill on a slope." 

Second. the efficient proximate cause of the alleged loss is an excluded rjsk. The 

Policy's earth movement exclusion precludes coverage for earth movement caused by man-made 

events. fn any event, the Policy's anti-concurrent causation clause, which applies the earth 

movement exclusion "regardless of any cause or event that contributes concurrently or in any 

sequence to the' loss, ,,, defeats the efficient proximate cause doctrine. 

Third, the doctrine of reasonable expectations does not apply to the construction of the 

Policy provisions at issue in this action. The doctrine of reasonable expectations does not apply 

to unambiguous provisions such as the Policy's earth movement exclusion and anti-concurrent 

causation clause. 

Finally, The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in holding that the ensuing loss 

provision in the Policy, which expressly states that if earth movement "results in ... building 

glass breakage. we will pay for the 'loss' or damage caused by such peril[]", is ambiguous and 

construing the ensuing loss provision to provide coverage for the entire alleged loss and not just 

that portion of the alleged loss caused by glass breakage. 
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IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 


This appeal is suitable for oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate 

Procedure 20(a) because it involves issues of fundamental public importance regarding an earth 

movement exclusion. an anti-concurrent causation clause, and an ensuing loss provision in Erie's 

Policy. The primary case on which the Circuit Court relied, Murray v. State Farm Fire & 

CasualtyCo.• 203 W. Va. 477, 509 S.E-.2d.1 (1998), has been widely criticized and sh~)Uld not be 

extended to the unambiguous language of the Policy in this action. The appeal may also suitable 

for oral argument under West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 19(a) because the Policy is 

readily distinguishable from the policies at issue in Murray. Because the Circuit Court's Order 

should be reversed, a memorandum decision is not appropriate. See W. Va. R. App. P. 21 (d). 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court has held that "[a] circuit court's entry of a declaratory judgment is reviewed 

de novo." Cox v. Amick, 195 W. Va. 608, 466 S.E.2d 459, Syl. Pt. 3 (\ 995). Additionally, 

following a bench trial, the Court applies following standard of review: 

In reviewing challenges to the findings and conclusions of the circuit court made 
after a bench trial. a two-pronged deferential standard of review is applied. The 
tinal order and the ultimate disposition are reviewed under an abuse of discretion 
standard. and the circuit court's underlying factual findings are reviewed under a 
clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review. 

Pub. Citizen, Inc. v. First Nat 'f Bank, 198 W. Va. 329. 480 S.E.2d 538, Syl. Pt. 1 (1996). 

Moreover, this Court has held: 

The deference accorded to a circuit court sitting as factfinder may evaporate if 
upon review of its findings the appellate court determines that: (1) a relevant 
factor that should have been given significant weight is not considered; (2) all 
proper factors, and no improper factors, are considered, but the circuit court in 
weighing those factors commits an error of judgment; or (3) the circuit court 
failed to exercise any discretion at all in issuing its decision. 

Brown v. Gobble, 196 W. Va. 559,474 S.E.2d 489, Syl. Pt. 1 (\996). 

8 



VI. 	 ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Circuit Court Erred as a Matter of Law in Holding that the Earth 
Movement Exclusion in Erie's Policy Provides Insurance Coverage for Earth 
Movement Caused by Man-Made Events. 

1. 	 The Policy's earth movement exclusion unambiguously precludes 
coverage for all earth movement, regardless of whether caused by an 
act of nature or otherwise caused, including landslide, which 
encompasses rockfall caused by man-made events. 

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in holding that the Policy's earth movement 

exclusion provides insurance coverage for earth movement caused by man-made events. The 

Policy's earth movement exclusion unambiguously precludes insurance coverage for all earth 

movement, regardless of whether the cause is natural or "otherwise", and expressly includes 

landslide, which encompasses rockfall caused by man-made events. The earth movement 

exclusion states as follows: 

SECTION III - EXCLUSIONS 

A. 	 Coverages 1,2,3,4, and 5 

We do not cover under Building(s) - Coverage I; Business Personal Property and 
Personal Property of Others - Coverage 2; Additional Income Protection -
Coverage 3; Glass and Lettering - Coverage 4; and Signs, Lights, and Clocks -
Coverage 5 "loss" or damage caused directly or indirectly by any of the 
following. Such "loss" or damage is excluded regardless of any cause or 
event that contributes concurrently or in any sequence to the "loss ": 

5. 	 Earth Movement 

a. 	 Earthquake, including tremors and aftershocks, and any earth 
sinking, rising, or shifting related to such event; 

b. 	 Landslide. including any earth sinking, rising, or shifting related to 
such event; 

c. 	 Mine subsidence, meaning subsidence of a manmade mine, 
whether or not mining activity has ceased; or 
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d. 	 Earth sinking (other than sinkhole collapse), rising, or shifting 
including soil conditions which cause settling, cracking or other 
disarrangement of foundations, or other parts of realty. Soil 
conditions include contraction, expansion, freezing, thawing, 
erosion, improperly compacted soil, and the action of water under 
the ground surface. 

This exclusion applies regardless ofwhether any ofthe above, in Paragraphs 5.a. 
through 5.d., is caused by an act ofnature or is otherwise caused. 

A.R. 16 (emphasis added). 

In Murrayv. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 203 W. Va. 477,509 S.E.2d 1,10 (1998), 

this Court concluded that earth movement exclusions in the State Farm and Allstate insurance 

policies at issue in that case were ambiguous and that construing both policies in favor of the 

insureds they excluded only phenomena resulting from natural, rather than man-made forces. 

The policy issued by State Farm at issue in Murray excluded coverage for losses resulting from 

the following: 

B. Earth Movement, meaning the sinking, rising, shifting, expanding or 
contracting of earth, all whether combined with water or not. Earth movement 
includes but is not limited to earthquake, landslide, mudflow, sinkhole, 
subsidence and erosion. 

Id., 509 S.E.2d at 8. 

The policy issued by Allstate at issue in Murray excluded coverage for losses resulting 

from the following: 

2. Earth movement, including, but not limited to, earthquake, volcanic 
eruption, landslide, subsidence, mud flow, sinkhole, erosion, or the sinking, 
rising, shifting, expanding, bulging, cracking, settling or contracting of the earth. 
This exclusion applies whether or not the earth movement is combined with 
water. 

Id 

The Court in Murray held in relevant part as follows: 
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4. The plain. ordinary meaning of the word "landslide" in an insurance 
policy contemplates a sliding down of a mass of soil or rock on or from a steep 
slope. 

5. The plain. ordinary meaning of the word "erosion" in an insurance policy 
contemplates a natural process that includes weathering, dissolution, abrasion, 
corrosion and transportation whereby material is removed from the earth's 
surface. 

6. "An insurance company seeking to avoid liability through the operation of 
an exclusion has the burden of proving the facts necessary to the operation of that 
exclusion." Syllabus Point 7, National Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & Sons, Inc., 
177 W. Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987). 

7. When an earth movement exclusion in an insurance policy contains terms 
not otherwise defined in the policy, and the terms of the exclusion relate to natural 
events (such as earthquakes or volcanic eruptions), which events, in some 
instances, may also be attributed to a combination of natural and man-made 
causes (such as landslides. subsidence or erosion), the terms of the exclusion must 
be read together and limited to exclude naturally-occurring events rather than 
man-made events. 

Id. at Syl. Pts. 4-7. 

In Murray, the Court rejected State Farm's argument that a "lead-in" clause in the 

"Losses Not Insured" section of its policy that provided that it would not insure for loss 

regardless of whether, among other things, the event "arises from natural or external forces, or 

occurs as a result of any combination of these" excluded coverage for all forms of earth

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