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

b. Landslide, including any earth sinking, rising, or shifting related to such event. 

AR. 210. Erie specifically relied upon this exclusion in their denial letter. A.R. 210. However, 

there exists an exception to the exclusion which reads: 

This exclusion applies regardless of whether any of the above, in S.a. through 
S.d., is caused by an act of nature or is otherwise caused. 

But if Earth Movement, as described in S.a. through 5.d. above, results in fire, 
explosion, sprinkler leakage, volcanic action, or building glass breakage, we will 
pay for the "loss" or damage by such perils. 

AR. 213. It is the insurer's burden to draft exclusions and limitations that are clear. Syl. Pts. 7 
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& 10, National Mut. Ins., supra. It follows that, if no evidence exists on an issue of fact that is 

material to defendants' exclusion, that omission defeats that exclusion. 

The language of the Chabers' policy is typical of a traditional "all risk" policy. This type 

of policy insures against all perils that might damage the insured property, except for the certain 

perils that are specifically identified. This Court in Murray reasoned as follows: 

When an earth movement exclusion in an insurance policy contains terms not 
otherwise in the policy, and the terms in the exclusion relate to natural events 
(such as earthquakes or volcanic eruptions), which events, in some instances, may 
also be attributed to a combination of natural man-made causes (such as 
landslides, subsidence or erosion), the terms of the exclusion must be read 
together and limited to exclude naturally-occurring events rather than man-made 
events. 

Syl. Pt. 7, Murray v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 203 W. Va. 477, 509 S.E. 2d 1 (1998). 

Although the Chabers reported to Erie that rockfall caused the damage, A.R. 188, 

Defendant Myers inspected the property on the date of the loss and typed in his file that the 

damage was caused by a landslide. Notwithstanding his report, Defendant Myers hired a 

structural engineer to conduct an investigation but specifically limited the investigation to the 

cause of soil movement. A.R. 193-94. Defendant Myers learned from St. Clair that a cause was 

poor excavation. A.R. 569-570. As stated above, Erie concealed the information until the 

discovery phase of this litigation. 

The Petitioners took a position that they would not make a final decision on coverage 

until they received the engineering report. A.R. 192. Nonetheless, Defendant Myers believed 

the loss to be excluded by the earth movement exclusion. A.R. 566. However, the Defendants 

concealed evidence known to them and attempted to keep it from the Chabers concerning their 

expert's report that excavation was an issue in the claim. A.R. 567-578. Importantly, Defendant 

Stephen Myers never advised the Chabers of this evidence, nor did he address it in his denial 

letter. A.R. 13. Recall, Erie denied this claim pursuant to Section III-Exclusions A. 5.b., 
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"landslide, including any earth sinking, rising, or shifting related to such events". A.R. 2lO. 

Therefore, a review of the exclusion must be limited to only 5.b. and not 5.a., c. and d. The 

Petitioners seem to be suggesting otherwise. 

The court in Totty v. Chubb Corp., 455 F.Supp.2d 376 (N.D. Ill. 2006), held that a policy 

exclusion for loss caused by earth movement excluded coverage for earth movement due to 

natural events only. The court questioned the insurance company's current position: 

I question Defendant's current position that the structural movement exclusion 
was intended to cover the specific damage at issue here. In particular, it is curious 
to me why, if Great Northern truly believes the structural movement exclusion 
applies to preclude coverage even under Plaintiffs theory of causation, it 
proceeded to engage two separate experts to respond to Plaintiffs expert's report, 
both of whom concluded that the damage was caused by factors other than the 
densification of the soil due to the vibrations from the construction equipment. If 
Great Northern truly interpreted the contract to exclude Plaintiffs loss even under 
Plaintiffs theory of causation, the Penn Environmental and ARCCA reports 
would have been unnecessary. 

Totty, 455 F.Supp.2d at 386. 

Clearly, Erie has been on judicial notice that excavation and the distinction between 

natural and man-made events is an important part of the analysis of coverage and the claims 

process in earth movement cases. In contrast, Erie ignored these issues and buried the evidence 

in the claim file. This concealment of relevant evidence was negligent, reckless and intentionally 

performed. Erie has failed to address, justify or reason why this evidence was concealed from 

the Chabers. In fact, the evidence was excluded from St. Clair's report and she refused to give 

an opinion on the issue at trial. A.R. 102-lO3. 

Why would Erie's own engineer advise Petitioner Stephen Myers that poor excavation 

was the cause but then publicly fail to address this issue at trial? Erie knew they had a problem 

involving poor excavation and how that would affect the coverage decision. Erie failed to 

properly exclude excavation in their policy. 
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1. 	 Erie's claim handling reveals that Erie itself found the earth movement 
exclusion ambiguous. 

The record in this case reveals that Erie's adjuster and his supervisor struggled with the 

ambiguity of Erie's earth movement exclusion in the factual scenario at issue here. In fact, if 

Erie really believed that cause has nothing to do with the earth movement exclusion, why did 

Erie hire a structural engineer, namely Tammy St. Clair, to determine the cause of the soil 

movement? A.R. 194. Why would Erie incur costs and expenses with an expert to determine the 

cause of the soil movement if it had no relevance to coverage? Erie knew they had a problem in 

the claim file as the adjuster was told by their structural engineer, Ms. St. Clair, that improper 

excavation was a cause of the rockfall. A.R. 569-570. 

Defendant Stephen Myers had to check with his supervisor before hiring an expert. A.R. 

196. An engineer was hired to determine the proximate cause of the loss. A.R. 505, 566, 567, 

717, 722-723. Erie specifically relied upon the report of Ms. St. Clair before excluding the loss 

and sending the denial letter to the Chabers. A.R. 576, 590-591. If Erie's own trained adjuster 

could not tell whether their damage was covered, how is an average customer, like the Chabers, 

supposed to know? 

Judge Stucky concluded that there was evidence of both natural and man-made causes. 

A.R. 291-92. Judge Stucky found that Erie failed to unambiguously exclude damage caused by 

rockfall due to man-made events, particularly, an improperly excavated hillside. A.R. 293-294. 

Fear of this reasoning is likely why Erie buried the communications from their expert in the 

claim file and concealed same in their denial letter. A.R. 13-15. 

In Murray, this Court concluded that earth movement exclusions in the State Farm and 

Allstate insurance policies at issue in that case were ambiguous. This Court construed both 

policies in favor of the insureds as they excluded only phenomena resulting from natural, rather 
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than man-made forces. The policy issued by State Farm at issue in Murray excluded coverage 

for losses resulting from the following: 

B. 	 Earth Movement, meaning the sinking, rising, shifting, expanding or contracting of 
earth, all whether combined with water or not. Earth movement includes, but is not 
limited to earthquake, landslide, mudflow, sinkhole, subsidence and erosion. 

Id, 509 S.E.2d at 8. 

The policy issued by Allstate at issue in Murray excluded coverage for losses resulting 

from the following: 

2. 	 Earth movement, including, but not limited to, earthquake, volcanic eruption, 
landslide, subsidence, mud flow, sinkhole, erosion, or the sinking, rising, shifting, 
expanding, bulging, cracking, settling or contracting of the earth. This exclusion 
applies whether or not the earth movement is combined with water. 

Id. 

This Court in Murray held in relevant parts as follows: 

2. 	 "Whenever the language of an insurance policy prOVISIon is reasonably 
susceptible of two different meanings or is of such doubtful meaning that 
reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning, it is 
ambiguous." Syllabus Point 1, Prete v. Merchants Property Ins. Co. of 
Indiana, 159 W.Va. 508,223 S.E.2d 441 (1976). 

3. 	 "It is well settled law in West Virginia that ambiguous terms in insurance 
contracts are to be strictly construed against the insurance company and in 
favor of the insured." Syllabus Point 4, National Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon 
& Sons, Inc., 177 W.Va. 734,356 S.E.2d 488 (1987). 

4. 	 The plain, ordinary meaning of the word "landslide" in an insurance policy 
contemplates a sliding down of a mass of soil or rock on or from a steep 
slope. 

5. 	 The plain, ordinary meaning of the word "erosion" in an insurance policy 
contemplates a natural process that includes weathering, dissolution, 
abrasion, corrosion and transportation whereby material is removed from the 
earth's surface. 

6. 	 "An insurance company seeking to avoid liability through the operation of an 
exclusion has the burden of proving the facts necessary to the operation of 
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that exclusion." Syllabus Point 7, National Mut. Ins. Co. v. McMahon & 
Sons, Inc., 177 W.Va. 734, 356 S.E.2d 488 (1987). 

7. 	 When an earth movement exclusion in an insurance policy contains tenus not 
otherwise defined in the policy, and the tenus of the exclusion relate to 
natural events (such as earthquakes or volcanic eruptions), which events, in 
some instances, may also be attributed to a combination of natural and man
made causes (such as landslides, subsidence or erosion), the tenus of the 
exclusion must be read together and limited to exclude naturally-occurring 
events rather than man-made events. 

Syl. Pts. 2-7, Id. 

In Murray, this Court rejected State Farm's argument that a "lead-in" clause in the 

"Losses Not Insured" section of its policy that provided that it would not insure for loss 

regardless of whether, among other things, the event "arises from natural or external forces, or 

occurs as a result of any combination of these" excluded coverage for all fonus of earth 

movement, regardless of whether resulting from natural or man-made causes. The court focused 

on the tenu "external" in State Farm's policy and reasoned as follows: 

The court in Cox v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 217 Ga. App. 796, 459 S.E.2d 
446 (1995) considered State Farm policy language nearly identical to that at hand 
and held the lead-in clause to be ambiguous. The policyholders in Cox alleged 
that their home had been damaged by vibrations from explosions, and that 
explosions were a covered peril under their homeowner's policy. As in this case, 
State Farm in that case denied coverage under the earth movement exclusion, and 
argued that man-made earth movement was excluded by the lead-in clause which 
expanded the exclusion to cover "natural or external forces." The court stated 
that: 

Because "external" is not defined in the policy, we must give the 
word its usual and common meaning. As we have found no 
definition of the word that means anything other than apart, 
beyond, exterior or connected to the outside (see Webster's Third 
New International Dictionary), we cannot define the word to 
include a concept of non-natural or man-made forces as State Farm 
would have us do. Therefore, we must interpret this provision as 
excluding coverage arising from natural forces from beyond or 
outside the property. 

217 Ga.App. at 797,459 S.E.2d at 448 (citation omitted). 
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We believe a similar analysis applies here. The policy language at issue in this 
case does not define the term "external," and we must therefore give the word its 
"plain, ordinary meaning." We can find no definition for "external" that means 
anything other than outside, apart, or beyond, and we cannot define the word to 
include man-made forces as State Farm would have us do. As with the court in 
Cox, we interpret the provision as excluding from coverage natural risks arising 
from beyond or outside the property. 

Murray, 509 S.E.2d at 13. 

It is important to note that, in the policy pending before this Court, the word "external" is 

not used. The earth movement exclusion, when read as a whole, provides only examples of 

natural events other than mine subsidence. Reasonable minds who read the exclusion could 

conclude that, because the examples are predominantly natural occurrences, this clause refers to 

natural events, rather than man-made events. If Erie intended to bring excavation-an obvious 

and common way of moving earth-within the exclusion, why was it not listed as an example 

while other examples were listed? Judge Stucky found ambiguity in his findings of fact, Nos. 

25-28. A.R. 292. 

2. Earth movement exclusions must be decided on a case by case basis. 

The Petitioners, on one hand, would have this Court believe that regardless of the cause 

of the earth movement, the damage is excluded, but then recognize Essex Insurance Co. v. New 

Jersey Pan-African Chamber of Commerce & Industry Inc., 2013 WL 4515934 (N.l Super. 

Aug. 27, 2013) (Petitioners' Brief at p. 16) to stand for the proposition that exclusions must be 

interpreted on a case-by-case basis in accordance with the specific language of the exclusion. It 

is important to note that Essex involves excavation, an important fact that Erie concealed from 

their policyholders until they hired legal counsel. The Essex policy is not defined in the same 

manner as in the Chaber policy. 

The Essex policy provided: 
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(A) "movement of land or earth" regardless whether emanating from, 
aggravated by, or attributable to any operations performed by or on behalf of 
any insured, and regardless whether first manifestation of same occurs during the 
policy period or prior or subsequent thereto. "Movement of land or earth" 
includes instability, subsidence, settling, sinking, slipping, falling away, caving in, 
shifting, eroding, rising, tilting, bulging, cracking, mud flow, mudslide, 
earthquake, shrinking or expansion of ground, slabs, footings, foundations, walls, 
roofs, floors, ceilings or any other real property or part thereof[.] ... 

Essex at *2. 

The Chaber Policy provides: 

5. Earth Movement 

a. Earthquake, including tremors and aftershocks, and any earth sinking, rising, or 
shifting related to such event; 

b. Landslide, including any earth sinking, rising, or shifting related to such event; 

c. Mine subsidence, meaning subsidence of a manmade mine, whether or not 
mining activity has ceased; or 

d. Earth sinking (other than sinkhole collapse), rising, or shifting including soil 
conditions which cause settling, cracking or other disarrangement of foundations, 
or other parts of realty. Soil conditions include contraction, expansion, freezing, 
thawing, erosion, 

A.R. 213. 

The Essex court reasoned as follows: 

These cases demonstrate that, contrary to defendants' claims, earth movement 
exclusions are not universally interpreted to encompass only naturally occurring 
earth movement. Rather, such exclusions are interpreted on a case-by-case basis 
in accordance with the specific exclusion's language. Moreover, the specific 
language in the exclusion negates the notion that there is an ambiguity in the 
terms of the exclusions, and defendants' claims to the contrary are without 
sufficient merit to warrant further discussion. 

Essex at *5. 

Essex is distinguishable from our case because the exclusion is drafted to include non

natural earth movement as highlighted above, and to include any operations performed. In both 
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Murray and Cox, the courts found the policies to be ambiguous as it relates to earth movement 

exclusions. The Petitioners cite authority for their position but fail to alert the Court of other 

jurisdictions that fmd earth movement exclusions ambiguous. Earth movement exclusions 

should be analyzed on a case-by-case basis as the Petitioners have alleged in their Petition. 

(Petitioners' Brief at p. 16) 

Landslides fall into the first category, perils commonly caused by natural forces, i.e., 

weather conditions, floods, and volcanic eruptions. They are not like theft, war, or faulty 

maintenance, all of which are commonly caused by man-made activity. Accordingly, the context 

of the policy indicates that the term "landslide" is limited to naturally caused landslides, not 

man-made landslides. 

The same conclusion is compelled by the fact that ·the landslide exclusion appears under 

subsection 5 - Earth Movement. The perils listed in the earth movement exclusion are 

earthquakes, tremors, aftershocks, landslides, mine subsidence, earth sinking, rising, or shifting. 

A.R. 213. Those perils are "acts of God" or nature; that is, not caused by man-made activity. 

Subsidence is a natural activity that follows the gradual shifting of the earth after a mine has 

been abandoned. Because Erie has not shown that the purported landslide was caused by natural 

forces as opposed to man-made activity, the landslide exclusion does not apply. 

Even if the landslide exclusion is not clearly limited to landslides caused by natural 

forces, it is at least ambiguous in that regard, in which case the Chabers are still entitled to

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